
Page 1 of 2 2/14/2024 12:52 PM 

Board of Commissioners 
Office: (541) 766-6800 

Fax: (541) 766-6893 

4500 SW Research Way 
Corvallis, OR 97333 

bentoncountyor.gov 

AGENDA
(Chair May Alter the Agenda) 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Tuesday, February 20, 2024, 9 AM 

How to Participate in the Board of Commissioners Meeting 
In-Person Zoom Video Zoom Phone Audio Facebook LiveStream 

Kalapuya Building 
4500 SW Research 

Way 
Corvallis, OR 

Click for Zoom link Dial 1(253) 215-8782 
Click for Facebook 

LiveStream link 
Zoom Meeting ID: 865 0757 9359 

Zoom Passcode: 374319 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the 
hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at 
least 48 hours before the meeting by contacting the Board of Commissioners Office at 541-766-
6800 or 800-735-2900 TTY, by email bocinfo@bentoncountyor.gov, or on the County’s website 
at https://boc.bentoncountyor.gov/contact/.  

The Board of Commissioners may call an executive session when necessary pursuant to ORS 
192.660.  The Board is not required to provide advance notice of an executive session; however, 
every effort will be made to give notice of an executive session.  If an executive session is the 
only item on the agenda for the Board meeting, notice shall be given as for all public meetings 
(ORS 192.640(2)), and the notice shall state the specific reason for the executive session as 
required by ORS 192.660. 

1. Opening
1.1    Call to Order 
1.2    Introductions 
1.3    Announcements 

2. Review and Approve Agenda

3. Proclamation
3.1   15 minutes – Proclaiming February 20, 2024 as Benton County’s Day of 

Remembrance of Japanese Americans Incarcerated During World War II, 
Proclamation P2024-002 – Dr. Janet Nishihara, Oregon State University; Jessica 
Hougen and Terri Thomas, Benton County Historical Society 

Page 1 of 81

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86507579359?pwd=NMu1yaCbVl3QAn4rnvXRKjJfbUlgcr.1
http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov
http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov
mailto:bocinfo@bentoncountyor.gov
https://boc.bentoncountyor.gov/contact/


Page 2 of 2 2/14/2024 12:52 PM 

6. Consent Calendar
6.1    Approval of the December 19, 2023 Tuesday Board Meeting Minutes 

Public Hearings 
(Hearings are heard at 11:00 AM time certain or as soon thereafter as the matter may be heard) 

Those wishing to speak should sign the “Public Comment” sign-in sheet – Thank you. 

PH 1 45 minutes – Public Hearing Regarding Solid Waste Collection: Annual Rate Increase 
Request, Order #D2024-027 – Darren Nichols, Community Development; Julie Jackson, 
Republic Services 

8. New Business

8.1   15 minutes – Request for Approval to Apply for the US Fish and Wildlife Service 
Section 6 Endangered Species Act Grant – Jesse Ott, Adam Stebbins; Natural 
Areas, Parks, and Events 

8.2   15 minutes – Acceptance of Easements for the Corvallis to Albany Path: Pilkington 
to Merloy Avenue – Laurel Byer, Public Works 

9. Other
ORS 192.640(1)” . . . notice shall include a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be
considered at the meeting, but this requirement shall not limit the ability of a governing body 
to consider additional subjects.” 

4. Comments from the Public
Time restrictions may be imposed on public comment, dependent on the business before the
Board of Commissioners. Individual comments may be limited to three minutes.

5. Work Session
5.1    10 minutes – Monthly Public Health Update – April Holland, Health Services 
5.2    10 minutes – Quarterly Floodplain Program Updates – Toby Lewis, Community 

Development 

Page 2 of 81



PROCLAMATION 

Page 3 of 81



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

In the Matter of Proclaiming February 20th as 
The Day of Remembrance of Japanese 
Americans Incarcerated During WWII 

) 
) 
) 

Proclamation No. P2024-002 

Eighty-two years ago, on February 19, 1942, President Franklin D. Roosevelt signed Executive Order 9066, 
which would strip people of Japanese descent, including Japanese Americans who were born here, of their 
liberty. The signing of this order followed the attack on Pearl Harbor and the United States’ declaration of 
war against Japan. This Executive Order authorized the forced removal and incarceration of Japanese 
Americans living along the West Coast. The actions carried out because of this executive order by our 
federal government led to extreme consequences for Japanese-descended residents and left a stain on our 
collective history and self-identification as a land of the free.   

Today, we at Benton County acknowledge the unjust incarceration and harm done to the 120,000 Japanese 
Americans, two-thirds of whom were born in the United States, and 110,000 of whom lived here on the 
West Coast. The majority of Japanese Americans living in our County during this time were students at 
Oregon State University. Within four days of the attack on Pearl Harbor, a group of 36 of these students 
wrote a letter to the school president expressing their “…unswerving loyalty to our country, the United 
States of America, and to all her institutions.”  

Before the attack on Pearl Harbor, approximately 5,000 Japanese Americans were serving in the U.S. Army, 
in large part through the draft. In the months following the attack, many of the units that were majority 
Japanese American were abruptly disbanded or reassigned to menial tasks. In early 1942, first-generation 
Japanese Americans were deemed ‘…not acceptable to the armed forces because of nationality or 
ancestry.’

Due to several political factors, in February 1943, the President announced the formation of the 442nd 
Regimental Combat Team, an all-Japanese American unit with white officers. The 442nd would go on to 
become, for its size and length of service, the most decorated unit in U.S. military history.  

One of the temporary locations that incarcerated Japanese residents was the Portland Assembly Center, 
which housed around 3,600 people. This center existed for four months, and by September of 1942 a total 
of 10 permanent concentration camps were completed and built in isolated desert areas from California to 
Arkansas. Those who were interned at the Portland Assembly Center were moved by train to Minidoka 
Camp near Twin Falls, Idaho, and Japanese Oregonians from Pinedale went to Tule Lake in Northern 
California. The camps had barracks that were 20 feet by 100 feet, divided into five or six one-room 
sections. Each room had an army cot, a potbelly stove, and a single light bulb, and housed an entire family. 
Families were only able to bring what they could carry, and residents built the rest of the furniture and 
amenities they needed to survive from scrap lumber and leftover building materials. 

Page 1 of 2 

Page 4 of 81



Page 2 of 2 

Despite the conditions in which they lived, Japanese Americans were resourceful and stood up systems and 
structures that continued to bring their community together. During this time, they created their own 
churches, post offices, security departments, fire brigades, and recreational and educational activities for the 
many children in the camps. While all of these activities and internal structures were built by the 
incarcerated Japanese residents, they were still surrounded by armed guards and barbed wire, which were 
constant reminders of the denial of their civil rights.   

Japanese Americans have significantly contributed to our County and state, economically and culturally. 
Between 1890 and 1942, there was an area in Portland called Japantown. Japanese agricultural 
communities developed in rural areas across our state; and by 1923, 60% of Oregon’s Japanese population 
was involved in agricultural work. During this period, thousands of Japanese laborers worked throughout 
our state.  At this point, the County’s population consisted of 4,642 or 5.4% Asian and Pacific Islander 
community members.  While this is not an exact number of Japanese Americans or descendants living 
here, it gives us an idea of the growth and contribution this community has continuously made to our 
vibrant community. 

THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED that February 19 is designated as the National Day and February 20 
is recognized as the Benton County Day of Remembrance of Japanese Americans Incarcerated During 
World War II in Benton County. All community members are urged to participate in this observance. 

Adopted this 20th day of February 2024. 
Signed this 20th day of February 2024.  

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Xanthippe Augerot, Chair 

Nancy Wyse, Vice Chair 

Pat Malone,  Commissioner 

Page 5 of 81



WORK SESSION 

Page 6 of 81



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

02/20/24

Work Session

Community Development

Toby Lewis

6296

Toby Lewis

Agenda Item Details

Quarterly Floodplain Program Updates

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

10 minutes

Yes
No

Page 7 of 81

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

Page 8 of 81



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

Provide floodplain program updates to the Board regarding:

• Integration of National Flood Insurance Program and Endangered Species Act –
Status of FEMA Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) Process

• Marys River Gage - Status of gage operation

• Community Rating System Annual Recertification of Benton County Floodplain
Program – Status of Submittal

• Annual winter floodplain outreach – Mailed to Benton County property owners

This item does not require Board action.

Yes
No

Page 9 of 81



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

Continued implementation of Benton County's floodplain program ensures safe
and resilient development and construction methods when occurring in flood
hazard areas, reduces risks to life and structures by encouraging development to
occur outside of high flood risk areas, and encourages healthy interactions
between humans and the environment.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

Minimization of structural development within mapped flood hazard areas improves
community safety and emergency preparedness, preserves natural habitat for
healthy environmental function and community enjoyment, and maintains open
spaces within floodplains for continued agricultural production.

Page 10 of 81

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Work Session
Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff does not recommend making any program changes at this time.

I move to ...
[This item does not require Board action.]

Staff Recommendation
Staff does not recommend making any program changes at this time.

Meeting Motion
 I move to ...
  [This item does not require Board action.]

Page 11 of 81



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

2024-02-20_Floodplain Program Updates.pptx 4.68MB

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

DARREN NICHOLS

Page 12 of 81



1. Dept Approval 5. 

2. 

3. 

4.

Page 13 of 81



FLOODPLAIN
PROGRAM 

UPDATES

 Integration of National Flood Insurance 
Program & Endangered Species Act

 Marys River Gage

 Community Rating System - Annual 
Recertification of Benton County 
Floodplain Program

 Annual Winter Floodplain Outreach

Page 14 of 81



NATIONAL 
FLOOD 

INSURANCE 
PROGRAM & 

ENDANGERED 
SPECIES ACT

Cooperating Agencies
Page 15 of 81



MARYS
RIVER
GAGE

Image from United States Geological Survey website

Photos from National Weather Service website

Page 16 of 81



COMMUNITY
RATING SYSTEM

RECERTIFICATION
APPROVED

Page 17 of 81



WINTER
FLOODPLAIN

OUTREACH

Page 18 of 81



CONSENT CALENDAR 

Page 19 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 1 of 10 December 19, 2023 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Livestream:  http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov  
Tuesday, December 19, 2023 

9:00 a.m. 

Present: 

Elected 
Official: 

Staff: 

Guests: 

Pat Malone, Chair; Xanthippe Augerot, Commissioner; Nancy Wyse, 
Commissioner; Vance Croney, County Counsel; Rick Crager, Acting County 
Administrator 

Jef Van Arsdall, Sheriff 

Jenn Ambuehl, Financial Services; Tomi Douglas, Natural Areas, Parks & 
Events; Cory Grogan, Public Information Officer; Maura Kwiatkowski, 
Amanda Makepeace, BOC Staff; Sean McGuire, Sustainability; Erika Milo, 
BOC Recorder; James Morales, Elections and Records; Darren Nichols, 
Linda Ray, Community Development 

Lorraine Anderson, Bill Gellatly, Sheridan McCarthy, Stanton Nelson, 
Marge Popp, Richard Weber, Jeff Winkleblack, Mark Yeager, residents; 
Aaron Fast, Julie Jackson, Kenny Larson, Republic Services; John Harris, 
Horsepower Productions; Craig Hendrickson, Kristi Schrock, Fair Board 

1. Opening:
1. Call to Order

Chair Malone called the meeting to order at 9:03 a.m. 

2. Introductions
3. Announcements

No announcements were made. 

2. Review and Approve Agenda

A minor change in item 5.2 was noted (see below).

3. *Comments from the Public

Mark Yeager, Benton County resident, read part of his written comment, refuting Nichols’ report 
at the November 28, 2023 Board Meeting, which stated that some Disposal Site Advisory 
Committee (DSAC) members had threatened violence against staff and other community 
members. Yeager denied that this had occurred. On November 29, 2023, a former DSAC 
member submitted comment asking the Board to investigate Nichols’ statements, but, according 
to Yeager, the Board had not done so. Yeager described the conduct of staff and leadership 
around this matter as obstructive and manipulative, and stated that the Board was misjudging 
community sentiment about expanding Coffin Butte Landfill (CBL). 

{Exhibit 1: Mark Yeager Public Comment} 

Marge Popp, City of Corvallis resident, read part of her written comment addressing Nichols’ 
report at the November 28, 2023 Board Meeting, which Popp described as containing sweeping 

Page 20 of 81

http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov


Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 2 of 10 December 19, 2023 

and derogatory allegations against members of DSAC. Referring to video timestamps from the 
meeting, Popp quoted Nichols as saying that some DSAC members had created an unsafe 
workspace, dangerously misled the public, wasted public resources, and contributed to bullying, 
disinformation, threats of violence, and a chronic lack of progress. Popp denied these statements 
and asked for details and examples. Popp stated that Nichols had mischaracterized the event 
when a member of the public threatened County staff with gun violence. Popp quoted the 
investigator, Corvallis Police Officer Rhoda Krause, as concluding in the report that she “did not 
develop probable cause to believe a crime occurred.”  
 
{Exhibit 2: Marge Popp Public Comment} 
 
Bill Gellatly, Corvallis resident, read part of his written comment, expressing concerns that 
Nichols had used descriptions of DSAC members’ behavior as a reason to suspend DSAC. There 
are still issues with workplace safety, methane emissions, and capture of run-off water at CBL. 
Gellatly stated that the root cause of the DSAC situation was overlooked, and asked what broke 
down regarding the definition of DSAC’s roles, responsibilities, and limitations. Gellatly 
questioned whether it was appropriate for Nichols to generalize DSAC member behavior in such 
a strong and biased way, including the debunked charge of a threat of violence by DSAC. The 
Board is now even further away from satisfactory resolution or completion of DSAC’s charge. 
 
{Exhibit 3: Bill Gellatly Public Comment} 
 
Augerot noted that McEneny is actively reviewing the situation and speaking with DSAC 
members. Staff are reviewing bylaws for DSAC and other advisory committees because the 
County recognizes that some of its processes are not clear enough, including roles and 
responsibilities. This is a pause for DSAC, but there is important work to be done; the County 
does not discount the importance of methane-related issues, monitoring, and other potential 
water quality issues at CBL. The County wants to address those issues in the appropriate ways 
and forums, including DSAC. Augerot urged everyone to be as constructive as possible in order 
to address the true problems. 
 
Wyse agreed with many of Augerot’s comments. Wyse stated that her goal is to get DSAC back 
up and running and get the overdue report done. The situation is dysfunctional, and everyone 
needs to figure out how to make it functional again. Regarding the verbal threat of violence, 
Wyse emphasized that it is never appropriate for anyone to threaten another person in that way. 
Wyse declared that she would stand up for staff or anyone against such a threat. 
 
4. Work Session 
  

4.1  Monthly Health Update – April Holland, Health Services 
 
The item was not heard due to staff absence. 
 
5. Consent Calendar 
 

5.1  Reappointments to the Cascades West Area Commission on Transportation 
of Pat Malone and Gary Stockhoff 

 
5.2  Approval of the November 7, 2023 Tuesday Board Meeting Minutes 
 
5.3  Approval of the following Appointments and Reappointments: 

Board/Committee:   Order:  Appointees: 

Page 21 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 3 of 10 December 19, 2023 

5.3.A.  Reappointment to #D2023-094 Elizabeth Irish 
Budget Committee 

5.3.B.  Reappointment to #D2023-095 Deb Merchant, Chris Andersen, 
Environment, Natural Robert Swan, Jason Schindler, 
Resources Advisory  Mike Hughes 
Committee 

5.3.C.  Reappointment to Fair #D2023-096 Rick Freeman 
Board 

5.3.D.  Appointment to #D2023-097 Duncan Rothe 
Natural Areas & Parks 
Board 

5.3.E.  Appointment to #D2023-098 Sara Cash 
Planning Commission 

5.3.F.  Reappointments to #D2023-099 Nick Fowler, Evelyn Lee, 
Planning Commission Elizabeth Irish 

Malone noted that item 5.2 had been corrected to indicate an adjournment time of 11:08 a.m. 

MOTION: Wyse moved to approve the Consent Calendar of December 19, 2023. 
Augerot seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

MOTION:  Augerot moved to appoint Sharon Thornberry to the Community Services 
Consortium Community Action Advisory Council. Wyse seconded the motion, 
which carried 3-0. 

The next item heard was 7.1. 

6. Public Hearings

PH 1  In the Matter of a Public Hearing Regarding Supplemental Budget
240601, Resolution R2023-024 – Jenn Ambuehl, Financial Services 

Chair Malone opened the Public Hearing at 11:04 a.m. 

Staff Report 
Crager presented the first budget supplement for 2023-25. On meeting packet page 35, the 
Resolution adoption date should read December 19, 2023 not December 5, 2023 as published. 
Staff request a budget adjustment of $17.43 million for the biennium. The largest category is 
non-departmental, related to capital adjustments made in the last budget process. The largest 
changes at fund level are in Fund 303: Building Development for all capital projects. Changes 
include: 

• $2.6 million adjustment to Fleet Operations, mainly due to supply chain issues; vehicle
orders did not arrive when expected.

• $2.4 million increase due to an unanticipated Oregon Housing & Community Services
grant for rehousing initiatives.

Page 22 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 4 of 10 December 19, 2023 

• $475,00 additional in the Beazell Trust Fund from unanticipated timber harvest. Some 
funds will be used for maintenance and operating contingency.  

• $100,000 additional from the Corvallis Rural Fire District for rural evacuation routes; the 
remainder is unspent funds carried over from the previous biennium.  

• $132,000 additional in the General Trust Fund from grants and carryover.  
• $11.6 million in the Capital Fund for the Crisis Center and Emergency Operations Center 

(EOC) due to cost increases and receipt of additional legislative funds. The total EOC 
budget is $8.8 million, and the new Courthouse has a $76.9 million outlay this biennium. 
Since the legislature did not provide funds for a Homeless Navigation Center, that 
amount was removed. 

 
Public Comment 
No comment was offered. 
 
Chair Malone closed the Public Hearing at 11:11 a.m. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to adopt Resolution R2023-024 in the matter of Supplemental 

Budget 24061 with the correction of the active date to December 19, 2023. Wyse 
seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
Crager noted that the next adjustment will be in spring 2024, and will probably be fairly large, 
since it includes redoing the Community Health Centers. 
 

PH 2  Continuation of the November 28, 2023 Public Hearing Regarding 
Solid Waste Collection: Annual Rate Increase Request, Order #D2023-092 – 
Darren Nichols; Community Development; Julie Jackson, Republic Services 
 

Chair Malone reconvened the November 28, 2023 Public Hearing at 11:12 a.m. 
 
Staff Report 
Nichols explained that Solid Waste Coordinator Daniel Redick had resigned. Republic Services 
(RS) representatives are present, as the Board requested at the first session. Benton County Code 
(BCC) Chapter 23 includes the process for setting refuse hauling and collection rates. For about 
the last 10 years, the County operated under a 2013 Board Order, which allowed RS to return 
with an annual rate increase unilaterally. However, that Order expired on December 31, 2020 
with the Board’s adoption of a new franchise agreement, putting both parties back under the 
eight-step rate change process in Chapter 23.5.10. On October 9, 2023, staff received the RS 
request to increase rates (Attachment 1, packet page 59), then received the suggested rates on 
October 19, 2023. Chapter 23 requires the hauler to provide that request 90 days before those 
rates can take effect, and requires the Board to decide at least 30 days before, so if the Board 
approves today, those dates must be moved to around January 20, 2024. Also, Redick’s report 
noted that the current rate structure includes an incentive that rewards consumers who produce 
more waste: a 32-gallon refuse cart costs less than 20-gallon cart (a 60% increase in cart volume, 
but only a 7% increase to the charge). The rate in the 32-gallon cart drops about 33% compared 
to the 20-gallon cart, from $2.42 per gallon to $1.62 per gallon. The County does not want to 
incentivize production of additional waste.  
 
Augerot noted that under BCC, the County typically receives an RS annual report prior to this 
decision, in September or October, yet the report is not scheduled to be presented till January 
2024. 
 

Page 23 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 5 of 10 December 19, 2023 

Nichols concurred. The presentation was delayed by the Benton County Talks Trash project, and 
the County has not yet received the report. BCC Chapter 23.5.10(5) contains a provision that the 
Board can require an annual report and any other needful information before making the rate 
increase decision.  
 
Augerot added that the report usually goes to the advisory committees first, then to the Board. 
 
Jackson explained that from 2009-2013, rate increases were based on a larger rate review process 
every two to three years, and ranged from 7-9%. RS and the Board agreed there was a better 
method, so the Refuse Rate Index (RRI) method was adopted, for an average increase of 2.9% 
per year. This is a more predictable and consistent approach, which customers anecdotally prefer. 
RS was unaware that the Refuse Rate Order had expired; RS signed the new hauling agreement 
in June 2020, and submitted a refuse rate agreement packet in fall 2020 that was approved, so the 
2023 rate increase still reflects that rate. RS’s preference is to use the RRI again and return to the 
Board with future options. 
 
Augerot agreed that the RRI makes rate increases more predictable and stable, so it makes sense 
to use the RRI now and later have RS staff renew the old agreement or develop a different 
approach. However, Augerot did not like the incentivization of more waste; a larger can should 
cost more per gallon, not less, to motivate people to use recycling and compost cans more and 
produce less garbage. Augerot would like to have seen an annual report before now; Augerot had 
other concerns, such as environmental issues, but those do not relate to the franchise agreement 
and waste disposal service for the community. 
 
Jackson stated that the analysis of can sizes does not take into account that one person with a 20-
gallon cart may produce more waste per capita than a family of four with a 90-gallon cart. It is 
difficult to regulate how much waste a person makes. There are pros and cons for each system. 
RS is willing to incentivize smaller cart size. Also, recycling and yard debris cost more to 
process than solid waste. People using the small cart might produce more recycling and yard 
debris. Everyone understands the need to produce less waste overall; that is the pro for 
incentivizing a rate for smaller carts.  
 
Wyse asked for any documentation or metrics showing that incentivizing larger or smaller bins 
has an impact on the amount of garbage produced. 
 
Jackson replied that RS can glean some information from the City of Portland. About 10 years 
ago, Portland went to every-other-week garbage collection and weekly yard debris collection; 
initially there was more cross-contamination, but Jackson was not sure if that leveled out. 
 
Wyse stated that she would support incentivization of smaller containers if that demonstrates a 
real impact. If it does not make a difference, Wyse would hesitate to raise rates on constituents. 
Wyse asked if RS had that incentivization now. 
 
Jackson replied no. Portland subsidizes lower cart rates from higher cart rates; people with a 
larger cart pay more per gallon of waste. 
 
Augerot favored that approach. 
 
Wyse commented that the approach sounded good, but would like to see documentation first. 
 

Page 24 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 6 of 10 December 19, 2023 

Jackson replied that RS will gather information from the Oregon Department of Environmental 
Quality. 
 
Wyse asked if the Board could change its approach for the following year if desired. 
 
Jackson confirmed. 
 
Wyse noted that the Sustainable Materials Management Plan (SMMP) process could also 
provide future direction. Wyse asked if Jackson had met with the other Benton County 
jurisdictions, and if those had all raised rates, and by how much. 
 
Jackson replied that the other communities had all approved the rate increases. RS uses the RRI 
in most jurisdictions in the Willamette Valley, except the City of Salem. Corvallis uses a 
different rate for industrial, residential, and commercial customers, and increased fees about 
5.4% this year, whereas RS is asking Benton for a 4.8% increase. In jurisdictions that include 
fuel in the RRI, which Benton does not, the rate is very volatile. In 2022, the RRI indicated an 
8.8% increase, but RS only requested 4%. In jurisdictions that include fuel, fees increased 13.4% 
at that time. In 2023, jurisdictions that include fuel had a 1% increase. Benton’s rate increases 
are very predictable. 
 
Malone seconded the notion of determining effective ways to reduce solid waste going into CBL. 
One option is a higher rate for customers who throw away more. It is important to know what is 
most effective to incentivize people to recycle more. 
 
Jackson shared that the Recycling Modernization Act (RMA), effective July 1, 2025, should 
expand which materials can be recycled. The RMA mainly involves plastics recycling and will 
provide a statewide list of collected materials. Because this is an Extended Producer 
Responsibility program, there will probably be more types of recyclable plastics than RS 
currently has markets for. Materials Recycling Facilities will accept more plastics and send some 
for a secondary sort. RS has opened a plastics polymer facility, so some material from Oregon 
can be sent there and remanufactured. All this will help reduce waste. 
 
Malone also favored relatively modest annual adjustments. Malone asked if renewing the 
agreement annually works best for RS. 
 
Jackson confirmed.  
 
Wyse clarified that she did not want to incentivize making more trash, but suspected that 
increasing the range of recyclable materials would have more impact on waste reduction. There 
needs to be a reason for a rate increase.  
 
Public Comment 
Mark Yeager, resident, requested that the Public Hearing remain open, since RS may provide 
additional information to the County. The packet published late on December 15, 2023 for this 
meeting provided no new information. At the previous Public Hearing, Yeager offered concerns 
about rate complexity and incentivizing production of more waste. A broader look at the rate 
structure is needed, and the rates should be easier to understand. The cans in question are only 
residential, not commercial. There is lots of general evidence that when customers pay more per 
unit of waste, they throw fewer things away. The public should have an opportunity to review the 
RS reports. 
 

Page 25 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 7 of 10 December 19, 2023 

Marge Popp, resident, approved of discontinuing the perverse incentive to produce more waste 
by lowering prices on quantities, but as Nichols presented the change, this would produce more 
revenue for RS. The County should first analyze how the change would affect the revenue 
stream, and make that clearer to the public. Popp requested that this be a revenue-neutral process, 
and if greater revenue is generated, that it be used to benefit Benton County, not RS. 
 
Chair Malone closed the Public Hearing at 11:41 a.m. 
 
Augerot summarized the requests from the community: 1. Continue the Public Hearing again, 
keeping the record open, so the Board and the public can see the annual report on RS operations. 
2. Allow time to address Wyse’s request for information on the effectiveness of changing the rate 
structure to incentivize lower volumes of waste. Augerot asked Jackson whether that analysis 
could be done by January 16, 2024, or if Jackson suggested that the Board approve the rate 
increase now and work on a changed approach for next year. Augerot would like to take into 
account Popp’s point about not just increasing the cost of a 32-gallon cart and increasing RS 
profits without return to the community; instead, the cost of a 20-gallon cart could be reduced. 
Augerot would also like to consider Jackson’s point that sometimes large households need larger 
cans, and sometimes have the most strained budgets, so a rate increase hits harder. The County 
does not want to incentivize dumping waste on the roadside, either. 
 
Jackson was unsure how to simplify rates significantly. Smaller carts could be subsidized with 
larger carts, but it would be difficult to complete the work by January 16, 2024. The refuse rate 
adjustments are meant to work with inflation and RS’s rising costs, so RS’s preference is to 
proceed with the RRI increase for 2024, then explore how Benton County wants to adjust rates, 
and return at the end of 2024. RS was willing to postpone the decision into January 2024 so 
everyone can see the annual report.  
 
Wyse was also very interested in seeing the report. 
 
To maintain process consistency, Augerot preferred to see the report before the rate increase, as 
usual. Augerot agreed that a thorough rate analysis would take time, and the SMMP analysis and 
a better understanding of the RMA will change the dynamics of incentives and waste streams. It 
is necessary to think carefully and holistically about the three waste streams (garbage, compost, 
recycling), and consider both preserving CBL airspace in the long-term, and environmental 
factors such as methane and potential leachate toxicity. Augerot preferred to address the rate 
analysis in a more thoughtful and all-inclusive manner. Augerot favored using the RRI, and also 
favored delaying the decision until after the Board and the community can see the annual report. 
 
Wyse was willing to use that approach. The Board can wait, see the annual report, make a 
decision for 2024, then see how the situation unfolds and take the SMMP process into 
consideration. 
 
Augerot wanted to include what was learned in that process, and how to be most effective in 
changing the incentive structure, not just shifting problems from one waste stream to another. 
 
Responding to a question from Wyse, Counsel advised continuing this Public Hearing so the 
Board can accept new evidence such as the annual report. The Chair can decide whether to 
receive additional comment at that time. 
 
Responding to a question from Malone, Jackson replied that the annual report will be available in 
the first week of January 2024. 

Page 26 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 8 of 10 December 19, 2023 

 
Counsel added that continuation of this Public Hearing must also include the introduction and 
acceptance of the annual report. 
 
After discussion, Malone continued the Public Hearing to the January 16, 2025 Board Meeting 
so the Board can review the RS annual report. 
 
Jackson added that RS would prefer to present information about incentives and smaller cart 
sizes as a separate item. 
 
Malone favored that approach. 
 

PH 3  Continuation of the December 5, 2023 Public Hearing Regarding an 
Amendment to Benton County Code, Chapter 9, Ordinance 2023-0322 – 
Tomi Douglas, Natural Areas, Parks, and Events 
 

Chair Malone reconvened the December 5, 2023 Public Hearing at 11:54 a.m. 
 
Staff Report 
Counsel clarified that the County accepted public testimony through December 5, 2023, then 
closed the record, so the community member emails received this week are not included in the 
packet or the record of this Hearing. The purpose of the continuation was to verify that the 
changes directed by the Board have been incorporated into the Ordinance. There is an incorrect 
redline on packet page 70, Ordinance Exhibit A. On packet page 77, staff corrected the incorrect 
strikethroughs, and the version on pages 77-80 is the correct redline version that was attached to 
the Ordinance.  
 
Douglas confirmed. The process was documented in the agenda checklist. This redline should 
track all the changes discussed in the Hearings. 
 
Deliberations 
Augerot noted that although the record was closed, she was open to the request in the emails to 
include the word ‘only’ in 9.810(2)(d), packet page 79, in blue, last paragraph on the right side of 
page. The altered passage would read, “community rodeos conforming to Northwest Professional 
Rodeo Association animal welfare rules and Future Farmers of America sponsored events: this 
exemption applies to activities only using animals not listed in 9.805.4.” Augerot felt this was 
clearer from a legal standpoint. 
 
Malone preferred to leave the language unchanged. 
 
Wyse expressed an understanding of the intent, but felt this change complicates the matter and 
preferred to leave the language unchanged. If anyone later questions how the Board interpreted 
this Ordinance, there is sufficient information about the Board’s intent on record. 
 
Augerot thanked everyone who participated in this process. 
 
MOTION: Wyse moved to enact Ordinance #2023-0322 and conduct a first reading. Augerot 

seconded the motion, which failed 2-1 (Augerot and Malone opposed).  
The motion died.  

 

Page 27 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 9 of 10 December 19, 2023 

MOTION: Augerot moved that the Board accept this redline version of the Ordinance with 
the addition of the word ‘only’ in Benton County Code 9.810(2)(d). Wyse 
seconded the motion, which carried, 2-1 (Malone opposed). 

 
Counsel clarified for the record that the word ‘only’ goes in subsection (d), second sentence, 
after the word ‘using’ and before the word ‘animals.’ Counsel conducted the first reading (short 
title). Second reading to occur January 2, 2024 as a regular business item. Effective date 
February 1, 2024. Counsel instructed Makepeace to correct the dates in the Ordinance.  
 
Chair Malone closed the Public Hearing at 12:07 pm. 
 
7. Departmental Reports & Requests  
 

7.1 In the Matter of Changing the Name of the Board of Property Tax 
Appeals (BOPTA) to the Property Value Appeals Board (PVAB) and 
Increasing the Terms of Members to Two Years, Order #D2023-100 – James 
Morales, Records and Elections 

 
Morales explained this is a response to changes by the Oregon legislature in House Bills (HB) 
2031 and 2237. County clerks requested the name change because some appeal petitioners 
thought they could appeal the amount of tax they pay, rather than the value of their property. HB 
2237 initially asked for a four-year term for PVAB members instead of a one-year term because 
the positions require a great deal of training. Staff requested a two-year term since this is how 
often members are required to take the State training. The changes will take effect later this year. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to adopt revisions to the Board of Property Tax Appeals Bylaws 

to reflect the name change from the Board of Property Tax Appeals to the 
Property Value Appeal Board and to increase the term served by appointed board 
members from a one-year to a two-year term, in accordance with the statutory 
changes adopted by the 2023 Oregon Legislature in House Bills 2031 and 2237. 
Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
7.2  Discussion Regarding a Resolution to Support Establishment of a 
 Continuum of Care for the Linn, Benton, and Lincoln Counties Region and 
 Registering with the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
 Development in 2024 – Board of Commissioners 
 

Augerot explained that Community Services Consortium (CSC) staff have been working to pull 
Benton County out of the Rural Oregon Continuum of Care (ROCC) and form an independent 
Continuum of Care with Linn and Lincoln Counties. This will provide more autonomy on how to 
conduct the point-in-time count for homelessness and in applying for Federal grants. In the 
ROCC, all counties had to be in agreement about grant applications and gain some benefit from 
those grants. Benton is very different from the remainder of the rural area, which mainly consists 
of southern and eastern Oregon. As an independent entity, Linn-Benton-Lincoln will have much 
more ability to address homelessness issues as needed, and already work closely together on 
these issues. CSC Director Pegge McGuire has spoken to all the local municipalities and the 
Lincoln County Board of Commissioners. Each County needs to make a Resolution establishing 
this Continuum of Care and leaving ROCC. 
 
Malone asked if there were any downsides to the change. 
 

Page 28 of 81



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 10 of 10 December 19, 2023 

Augerot replied that ROCC shares one staff person, so later the three Counties will need staffing 
at CSC to support the application process. That cost will be borne by CSC, possibly with some 
eventual cost-sharing by the three counties. There are sources to support creation of the position, 
and it has already been advertised. Marion and Polk Counties, who also recently withdrew from 
ROCC, have more than tripled the amount of grant revenue coming in, so they are able to cover 
staff costs because they have a better ability to raise funds and address the challenges in that 
region. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to approve Resolution #R2023-028 supporting the establishment 

of a Continuum of Care for Linn, Benton, and Lincoln Counties and registering 
said unit with the Department of Housing and Urban Development in 2024. Wyse 
seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
Chair Malone recessed the meeting at 9:37 a.m. and reconvened at 11:00 a.m. with Public 
Hearing 1. 

 
8. Other 
 

No other business was discussed. 
 
9. Adjournment 
 

Chair Malone adjourned the meeting at 12:07 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
             
Pat Malone, Chair     Erika Milo, Recorder 
 

* NOTE:  Items denoted with an asterisk do NOT have accompanying written materials in the 
meeting packet. 

Page 29 of 81



PUBLIC HEARING 

The materials for the following:

PH 1 45 minutes – Public Hearing Regarding Solid Waste Collection: 
Annual Rate Increase Request, Order #D2024-027 – Darren Nichols, 
Community Development; Julie Jackson, Republic Services

will be published as Addendum 1 to the Meeting Packet.

Page 30 of 81



NEW BUSINESS 

Page 31 of 81



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

02/20/24

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Natural Areas, Parks and Events

Jesse Ott

6002

Jesse Ott/Adam Stebbins

Agenda Item Details

Request for approval to apply for the US Fish and Wildlife Service Section 6
Endangered Species Act Grant

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

15 minutes

Yes
No

Page 32 of 81

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

Page 33 of 81



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Fiscal Impact
Description*

Item Issues and Description

Long Term Habitat Restoration within highest population priority habitat for Taylors
Checkerspot Butterfly at Beazell Memorial Forest. Grant application approval
requested for Annual monitoring provided by the US Fish and Wildlife Service
(USFWS) and Benton County Natural Areas, Parks, and Events (NAPE) (combined
funding for annual population estimates). Estimates show the highest populations
occurring at Beazell Memorial Forest “North” and “Middle” meadows (natural areas
managed by Benton County NAPE). Retaining and increasing this population is
critical to downlisting of species and recovery.

Approve or deny the request to submit a grant application.

Yes
No

$9,000 match of Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP) funds to secure $20,000 in
funding.

Page 34 of 81



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

This work is needed to protect the habitat of one of the largest concentrations of
the endangered Taylor's Checkerspot Butterfly in the Willamette Valley.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

The rare plant and animal species in our natural areas make them even more
special to recreators.

Page 35 of 81

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Approve the request by Natural Areas, Parks, and Events to apply for the US Fish
and Wildlife Service Section 6 Endangered Species Act grant.

I move to ...
...allow Natural Areas Parks and Events to apply for the US Fish and Wildlife
Service Section 6 Endangered Species Act Grant.

Staff Recommendation
Approve the request by Natural Areas, Parks, and Events to apply for the US 
Fish and Wildlife Service Section 6 Endangered Species Act grant.

Meeting Motion
I move to allow Natural Areas Parks and Events to apply 
for the US Fish and Wildlife Service Section 6 Endangered 
Species Act Grant.

Page 36 of 81



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

Endangered Taylor’s Checkerspot Butterfly within

Benton County Natural.pdf
1.29MB

Section 6 Application 2024 Benton Countyh

NAPE.pdf
67.38KB

Budget Section 6 NAPE.pdf 97.33KB

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

TOMI DOUGLAS

Page 37 of 81



 

1. Dept Approval 

 
 

2. 

 

3. 

 

4. 

  
 

Page 38 of 81



Endangered Taylor’s Checkerspot 
Butterfly within Benton County 
Natural Areas   

Board of Commissioners Meeting-
February 2024 
Overview

Prairie Habitat Conservation, 
Restoration and Enhancement
+
Weather/Micro Climate
Monitoring 

Page 39 of 81



Decades Long 
Monitoring

Page 40 of 81



Decades Long Habitat Projects-
Beazell Memorial Forest & Fitton Green

Page 41 of 81



Beazell “North Meadow” 
and “Middle Meadow”
Micro-Climate/Weather 

Monitoring Stations

Winter 2021: 2x Stations 
in highest priority 
meadow habitat- 
established with weather 
and in-soil sensors  

Page 42 of 81



15 minute monitoring interval data with 
upcoming Abiotic impacts research

• Heat domes
• Late freezes
• Early freezes
• And more!

Page 43 of 81



Prairie Conservation Area 
Monitoring + Forest Resources 
Management leading to corridor 
creation and habitat expansion

Page 44 of 81



TRADITIONAL SECTION 6 PROJECT PROPOSAL 
 
Project Narrative  
 

1) Species:  Taylors Checkerspot (Euphydryas editha taylori) 
 

2) Species Recovery Priority Number (1-18):        (to be filled in by the Service) 
 

3) State: Oregon 
 

4) State Priority: Critical Habitat- Endangered 
 

5) Project Title: Long Term Habitat Restoration within highest population priority habitat 
for Taylors Checkerspot Butterfly 

 
6) Description of entity(ies) undertaking the project:  Benton County Natural Areas, 

Parks, and Events Department (NAPE), local various Contractors most 
suited/competitive advantage for the proposed objectives. 

 
7) Statement of Need:  Annual monitoring provided by USFWS and Benton County NAPE 

(combined funding for annual population estimates) show the highest populations 
occurring at Beazell Memorial Forest “North” and “Middle” meadows (natural areas 
managed by Benton County NAPE).  Retaining and increasing this populations is critical 
to downlisting of species and recovery.  
   

8) Recovery Plan Task Number:  This proposal supports the Recovery Plan, Recovery 
Action #1: Maintain and increase suitable habitat and connectivity 
across the species’ range to support population. 

 
9) Task Priority Number (1-3):  (to be filled in by the Service) 

 
10) Purpose: Support long term restoration of core critical habitat for the largest Taylors 

Checkerspot Butterfly populations, within Oregon, at North and Middle Meadows of 
Beazell Memorial Forest. 

 
11) Objectives: 1. Reduce invasive species via mowing and herbicide applications within 

core critical habitat. 2.) Bulb and seed purchases to increase nectar and host vegetation 
abundance. 3.) Completion of planting plan and plant materials installation within 
priority meadow areas. 

 
12) Methods/Approach: Utilizing the 3-year effectiveness monitoring data (next monitoring 

cycle April-July 2024) under the Benton County Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP), 
project leads will determine priority work locations.  After specific project locations are 
identified, existing grants will be leveraged along with existing county funding to plant 
additional bulbs/plugs seed. Prioritized mowing of identified areas will occur after 
Taylors breeding season, to reduce summer invasive plant seed production.  Early 

Page 45 of 81



summer spot spraying of invasive plants will occur prior to mowing.   Building on this 
work through increased invasive plant control, enhanced nectar and larval source 
plantings, will result in long term restoration of historic TCB populations at these highest 
populations priority conservation area. 

 
 

13) Timetable or milestones: 
 

During 2025, the following work will be completed under this grant funding opportunity:  
 
April-May:  Complete site visits to establish vegetation site conditions based on HCP 
findings, and any possible limited Taylors Checkerspot use of previous restoration work 
areas.  Complete targeted applications of broad spectrum herbicide to priority invasive 
plants. 
 
May-June:  Benton County natural resources division operator completes priority 
mowing to limit spread of any remaining invasive plant seeds. 
 
November-December:  Planting of nectar and host species for Taylors Checkerspot 
Butterfly to provide for an increase in existing native vegetation. 

 
 

14) Information to support environmental compliance review requirements: 
 

The project area is included within the Benton County Habitat Conservation Plan- Prairie 
Conservation Areas, approved by USFWS (since 2010).  All work will be in compliance with 
the incidental take permit and requirements associated with the Benton County HCP. 

 
15) Information on key project personnel: 
 

Adam Stebbins, Benton County Natural Resources Coordinator 
Devon Durant, Benton County Landscape and Natural Resources Specialist 
Local contractors capable and awarded  

 
16) Project Location: 

North and Middle Meadows within Benton County prairie conservation areas at Beazell 
Memorial Forest, Benton County OR 
 

 
17) Continuation Projects Only:  

Since 2010, Benton County Natural Areas and Parks Department has completed ongoing 
restoration actions to ensure that the site will be greatly enhanced through this funding 
opportunity.  The following summarizes the recent work to reestablish enhanced 
conditions for the endangered checkerspot butterfly including: 
 
1. Summer 2023 prioritized mowing; 

Page 46 of 81



2. Summer and Fall spot spraying of invasive plants within meadow expansion areas 
and habitat priority portions of site; 

3. Fall 2023 stump grinding within meadow expansion area; 
4. Fall 2023 herbicide applications within priority habitat expansion areas. 

 
All work was initial funding investment provided by the Benton County Habitat Conservation 
Plan- General Fund, and the Oregon Watershed Enhancement Board.  The county general fund 
will also provide the 25% match funding during this 2025 work period.  
 
Budget Narrative 
Provide a budget that details personnel time, supplies and services and cost share information. 
*See next page for budget breakdown and budget narrative” 

Page 47 of 81



 
 
The proposed Budget shows that the cost of the project is cost effective and that costs are both 
necessary and reasonable for accomplishing the purposes of the proposal.  Full funding is 
secured under the Benton County general fund Habitat Conservation Plan.  Staff costs  were 
developed based on current burden rates for Benton County NAPE.  Plant materials and 
herbicide application costs were identified based on recent  similar work completed   within 
similar project areas.  

A. Salaries & Wages Time Units Rate

Total 
Project 
Costs

Non 
Federal 
Match

Total Funds 
Requested 

Staff - Name and Title
Adam Stebbins, Natural Resources Coordinator 80.00 $66.84 $5,347 $5,347 $0

Devon Durant, Landscape Specialist 50.00 $50.77 $2,539 $2,539

Outdoor Education & Recreation Intern 80.00 $15 $1,200 $1,200

      Total Salary $9,086 $9,086 $0

B. Fringe Benefits Rate Base
Staff - Name and Title

$0

      Total Fringe Benefits $0 $0 $0
SALARY & FRINGE  COSTS $9,086 $9,086 $0

C. Consulting/Contracting Fees quantity units rate/unit
Herbicide applications 3  $  2,000.00  $  6,000.00 6,000.00$         

Plant Materials Installation 2 $3,000  $  6,000.00 6,000.00$         

Total Consulting/Contracting $12,000 $0 $12,000

D. Travel and Per Diem Distance Units Rate
Mileage 

Travel Per Diem

other

Total Travel and Per Diem Costs $0 $0 $0

E. Supplies and Materials quantity units rate/unit
Plant Materials 80 pounds $187.50 $15,000

Total Supplies and Materials $15,000 $0 $15,000

G. Other Costs

Total Other Costs $0 $0 $0

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS $36,086 $9,086 $27,000

Indirect Cost/Overhead Rate 0.00% $0 $0
TOTAL PROJECT COST $36,086 $9,086 $27,000

25.18% 33.65%

Page 48 of 81



Section 6 Application Guide 
 
Project Narrative 
 

• Statement of Need – Explain why the project is necessary, how it relates to the State’s 
program to conserve and recover threatened and endangered species as described through 
the cooperative agreement, and supports the Department of Interior’s Priorities for 
Federal Financial Assistance. 

o A need statement will identify the conservation issue, problem or opportunity to 
be addressed. 

o A need statement will provide evidence such as results from surveys, research or 
other data to demonstrate that the need is real and not perceived. 

o A need statement will identify the negative result of taking no action; 
• Purpose – Describe the desired future state that addresses the need in whole or part. 
• Objectives – Describe the objectives of the project. 

o Objectives state the desired outcome of the proposed project in terms that are 
specific and quantified. 

o Objectives are meant to be realistic targets or benchmarks that, if achieved, will 
resolve the project need. 

o Objectives are written in an active tense and use action verbs such as construct, 
survey, train, research, establish, repair, conduct, provide, etc. 

• Methods/Approach – Describe the methods used to achieve the stated objectives. 
o Approach describes the specific conservation actions or efforts necessary to 

accomplish project objectives. 
o Approach answers the question of “how” the objectives will be accomplished by 

describing the actual work that will be done. 
o Approach will demonstrate that the agency will use sound design, appropriate 

procedures, and accepted fish and wildlife conservation, management, or research 
principles. 

o Any deliverables resulting from the funding should be noted in this section. 
• Timetable or milestones – Describe significant milestones in completing the project and 

any accomplishments to date.  Indicate if this is a multi-year project. 
• Information to support environmental compliance review requirements – the Service 

has the responsibility for making the final determination regarding compliance with 
Federal laws. 

o National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) – provide any information that may 
be relevant to compliance with NEPA. 

o Endangered Species Act (ESA) – provide any information that may be relevant to 
compliance with the ESA. 

o National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) – provide any information that may 
be relevant to compliance with NHPA, such as locations of historic or cultural 
properties. 

o State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) – for any ground breaking activities 
complete SHPO clearance and provide copies of associated permits. 

o Other Permits – list and provide the current status of any other required Federal 
permits 

Page 49 of 81



• Information on key project personnel  
o Principal investigator (Research)  
o Recipient project lead 

• Project Location- Provide a general description of where the work will be conducted. 
 
Budget Narrative 
Describe and justify requested budget items and costs. Detail how the SF-424 Budget 
Information, Object Class Category totals were determined. For personnel salary costs, include 
the baseline salary figures and the estimates of time. Describe any item of cost that requires prior 
approval under the Federal cost principles. See 2 CFR 200.407 “Prior written approval (prior 
approval)” for more information. If equipment purchased previously with Federal funds is 
available for the project, provide a list of that equipment and identify the Federal funding 
source. Identify any cash or in-kind contributions that a partner or other entity will contribute to 
the project and describe how the contributions directly and substantively benefit completion of 
the project. For in-kind contributions, include the source, the amount, and the valuation 
methodology used to determine the total value. See 2 CFR 200.306 “Cost sharing or matching” 
for more information. 
 
Budget narratives must be sufficiently detailed to show that the project is cost effective and that 
costs are both necessary and reasonable for accomplishing the purposes of the proposal. Indicate 
whether partial funding of the project is practicable and, if so, what specific portion(s) of the 
project could be implemented with what level of funding. The budget narrative should provide 
sufficient detail for reviewers to understand how costs were estimated. Reviewers must be able 
to clearly see that costs are realistic and are commensurate with the project needs and timeframe. 
Applications will be disqualified if reviewers cannot determine that applications meet this 
threshold 
 
 

Page 50 of 81



Project Title:  Long Term Habitat Restoration within highest population priority habitat for Taylors Checkerspot Butterfly
Today's Date: 1/12/24 April 1st-December 30th 2025

Contact: 

A. Salaries & Wages Time Units Rate

Total 
Project 
Costs

Non 
Federal 
Match

Total Funds 
Requested 

Staff - Name and Title
Adam Stebbins, Natural Resources Coordinator 80.00 $66.84 $5,347 $5,347 $0

Devon Durant, Landscape Specialist 50.00 $50.77 $2,539 $2,539

Outdoor Education & Recreation Intern 80.00 $15 $1,200 $1,200

      Total Salary $9,086 $9,086 $0

B. Fringe Benefits Rate Base
Staff - Name and Title

$0

      Total Fringe Benefits $0 $0 $0
SALARY & FRINGE  COSTS $9,086 $9,086 $0

C. Consulting/Contracting Fees quantity units rate/unit
Herbicide applications 3  $   2,000.00  $   6,000.00 6,000.00$           

Plant Materials Installation 2 $3,000  $   6,000.00 6,000.00$           

Total Consulting/Contracting $12,000 $0 $12,000

D. Travel and Per Diem Distance Units Rate
Mileage 

Travel Per Diem

other

Total Travel and Per Diem Costs $0 $0 $0

E. Supplies and Materials quantity units rate/unit

FY 2024 Invertebrate Section 6 Grant Program Budget

Proposed Project Period: 
Adam Stebbins, 541-250-6209Requesting Entity:  Benton County Natural Areas, Parks & Events

Page 51 of 81



Plant Materials 80 pounds $187.50 $15,000

Total Supplies and Materials $15,000 $0 $15,000

G. Other Costs

Total Other Costs $0 $0 $0

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS $36,086 $9,086 $27,000

Indirect Cost/Overhead Rate 0.00% $0 $0
TOTAL PROJECT COST $36,086 $9,086 $27,000

25.18% 33.65%

Page 52 of 81



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

02/20/24

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Public Works

Laurel Byer

6013

Laurel Byer

Agenda Item Details

Acceptance of Easements for the Corvallis to Albany Path: Pilkington to Merloy
Avenue

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

15 minutes

Yes
No

Page 53 of 81

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

Page 54 of 81



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

The following is a list of easements obtained for the Corvallis to Albany Path:
Pilkington to Merloy Avenue:

Public Utility and Access Easements for a Multi-Use Path from Jeremy and Deanna
Yoba

Public Utility and Access Easements for a Multi-Use Path from Rodney K. and Jodie
L. Wyatt

Public Utility and Access Easements for a Multi-Use Path from Keith Jegglie and
Teri Morrison

Public Utility and Access Easements for a Multi-Use Path from Sheffield Properties,
LLC

Public Utility and Access Easements for a Multi-Use Path from Chad R. Sky

Public Utility and Access Easements for a Multi-Use Path from Derek R. Cropp

Public Utility and Access Easements for a Multi-Use Path from Jason Douglas and
Terra A. Stroup

See attachment A for copy of easements. 

Documents are needed to complete the construction of the segment of the
Corvallis to Albany Path from Pilkington Avenue to Merloy Avenue. There are three
remaining properties to be acquired that are still, technically, in negotiation.

1) Accept the easement documents.
2) Do nothing.

Yes
No

Page 55 of 81



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

Providing alternatives for transportation, whether it be transit based or bicycle and
pedestrian based, is a key component of meeting a core value of a livable
community with equitable options for all. It also encourages healthier lifestyles by
creating opportunities for the public to use facilities that are outside a normal road
or highway setting. The ultimate build-out of the Corvallis-Albany Multiuse Path will
connect the two communities on a lower stress network so that all ages and
abilities will be able to utilize the path.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

The focus areas and vision feed into the above core values as outdoor recreation
is a key component of livable communities. The proposed path encourages
healthier lifestyles by creating opportunities for the public to use facilities that are
outside and in an incredible setting here in the Valley. The ultimate build-out of the
Corvallis-Albany Multiuse Path will connect the two communities on a lower stress
network so that all ages and abilities will be able to utilize the path. The path will
also encourage additional bicycle commuting between the two communities,
thereby reducing the number of cars on the highway and reducing greenhouse
gas emissions.

Page 56 of 81

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff respectfully recommends that the Board accept and approve the Public Utility
and Access Easements for construction of the Corvallis to Albany Path: Pilkington
to Merloy Avenue.

I move to ...
...accept and approve the Public Utility and Access Easements for the Corvallis to
Albany Path: Pilkington to Merloy Avenue.

Staff Recommendation
Staff respectfully recommends that the Board accept and approve the Public 
Utility and Access Easements for construction of the Corvallis to Albany 
Path: Pilkington to Merloy Avenue.

Meeting Minutes
I move to accept and approve the Public Utility and Access 
Easements for the Corvallis to Albany Path: Pilkington to 
Merloy Avenue.

Page 57 of 81



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

Corvallis-Albany Path Easement Attachment A.pdf 2.06MB

Laurel will bring original easements to the meeting for signatures. These
documents require wet signatures. Once signed, please return original documents
for recording. Do not scan, e-sign or shred. Thank you.

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

GARY STOCKHOFF

Page 58 of 81



1. 5. 

2. 

3. 

4.

Page 59 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 60 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 61 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 62 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 63 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 64 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 65 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 66 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 67 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 68 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 69 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 70 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 71 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 72 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 73 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 74 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 75 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 76 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 77 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 78 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 79 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 80 of 81



Cop
y-D

o N
ot 

Sign

Page 81 of 81


	240220 AGENDA
	PROCLAMATION
	3.1 Remembrance of Japanese Americans Interred During WW2, Proclamation P2024-002

	WORK SESSIONS
	5.2 Quarterly Floodplain Program Updates CHECKLIST
	5.2 2024-02-20_Floodplain Program Updates


	CONSENT CALENDAR
	6.1 231219m_tu Minutes

	PUBLIC HEARING
	NEW BUSINESS
	8.1 Request for approval to apply for the US Fish and Wildlife Service Section 6 Endangered Species Act Grant CHECKLIST
	8.1 Endangered Taylor’s Checkerspot Butterfly within Benton County NAPE - 240220
	8.1 Section 6 Application 2024 Benton County NAPE - 240220
	8.1 Budget Section 6 NAPE  - 240220

	8.1 Motion
	8.2 Acceptance of Easements for the Corvallis to Albany Path_ Pilkington to Merloy Avenue CHECKLIST
	8.2 Corvallis-Albany Path Easement Attachment A

	8.2 Motion




